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Figure 10: 1926 12a-18 Botany Road; T G
lass Shoe Store, Bow

 Bells H
otel, 

G
eorge Adam

s C
akes in 1900-1930 H

om
e and Aw

ay Series. (N
o’s 22, 24-26 

seen on right).
Source: State Library of N

SW
: w

w
w

.digital.sl.nsw
.gov.au, H

om
e and Aw

ay Series - 35063, 
FL1637670.
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This site form
s part of the land of the G

adigal people, 
the traditional custodians of land w

ithin the C
ity 

of Sydney council boundaries. 1 Inform
ation about 

the original topography, Aboriginal occupation and 
early contact betw

een Aboriginal people and first 
European settlers has been provided by U

rbis. 
Further details are included in the Botany Road 
C

orridor Strategic Review
: Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander C
om

m
unity Engagem

ent and C
ultural 

H
eritage Research Project Report Body, O

ctober 
2020, prepared by C

ox Inall Ridgew
ay. The historical 

overview
 1788-2020 that follow

s takes the form
 of 

a them
atic history and has been prepared by N

ick 
Jackson, historian.

3.1 In
troduction

The study area is located w
ithin the Botany Low

lands 
dune system

. The original topography w
as a m

ix of 
gently undulating sand dunes running in a north-
south direction, rising in elevation from

 tw
enty to forty 

m
etres tow

ards the north, bordered by the low
-lying 

w
etlands and w

aterw
ays of W

aterloo Sw
am

p to the 
south and east. 

The topography w
as significantly m

odified throughout 
the 19th century through earthw

orks and land 
reclam

ation associated w
ith residential and industrial 

developm
ents. Installation of the trainline to the north-

w
est of the subject area in 1884 also necessitated 

significant levelling and excavation w
orks.

Prior to European occupation of the subject area, 
it is likely to have been positioned in a transitional 
landscape betw

een the sclerophyll eucalypt and 
apple w

oodland of the Tuggerah soil landscape and 
tall open-forest and open-w

oodland of the Blacktow
n 

soil landscape. This supposition is based on the 
underlying geology and soil landscapes. 

The m
ajority of the subject area therefore falls w

ithin 
form

er sclerophyll eucalypt and apple w
oodland. 

Dom
inant tree species included sm

ooth-barked apple 
Angophora costata, Sydney pepperm

int Eucalyptus 
piperita, and old m

an banksia Banksia aem
ula. The 

shrubby sclerophyllous understorey contained m
any 

species including bracken Pteridium
 esculentum

, 
C

hristm
as bush C

eratopetalum
 gum

m
iferum

, w
oody 

pear Xylom
elum

 pyriform
e, and prickly m

oses Acacia 
ulicifolia.

The open-forest and open-w
oodland to the w

est 
contained Sydney blue gum

 Eucalyptus saligna and 
blackbutt E. pilularis w

ithin w
etter areas and forest red 

gum
 E. tereticornis, narrow

leaved ironbark E. crebra 
and grey box E. m

oluccana in drier areas.

N
ative vegetation com

m
unities have been alm

ost 
com

pletely rem
oved from

 the subject area due to 
the intense urbanisation and industrialisation that 
occurred from

 the 19th century onw
ards. 2 

1: For inform
ation about the Aboriginal history of the local area also see 

the C
ity’s Barani w

ebsite: http://w
w

w.sydneybarani.com
.au/ 

2: U
rbis, Archaeological Assessm

ent included in C
ox Inall Ridgew

ay, 
Botany Road C

orridor, Indigenous C
ultural H

eritage Study, 2020.

3.2 Topography
3.3 Vegetation

Figure 11: O
ne of the earliest m

aps of the area, from
 

approx. 1820-1840. The m
ap show

s Botany Road 
including bridges over creeks w

hich feed into the sw
am

ps 
and w

aterw
ays. The area show

 includes the area w
hich 

today includes Redfern Station and The Block to the w
est 

of the road, Alexandria Park to the south, Redfern Street 
and Redfern Park to the east, and the W

aterloo Estate 
(near the location noted as the ‘W

aterloo M
ill’. 

Source: H
LRV, Parish of Alexandria, C

ounty of C
um

berland
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3.4 A
borigin

al H
istory

3.4.1 Pre C
ontact

The traditional ow
ners of the land in the study area 

are the G
adigal (or C

adigal) clan, one of tw
enty-nine 

Aboriginal clans that lived around the Sydney basin 
and m

ake up the Eora nation. Eora m
eans ‘people’ 

(of this place) and their land is docum
ented to extend 

from
 the H

aw
kesbury River plateau m

argins in the 
north to Botany Bay and the G

eorges River in the 
south. 3 4 5 The G

adigal w
ere believed to occupy the 

south side of Port Jackson, from
 South H

ead to Long 
C

ove (now
 Darling H

arbour). 6 This area incorporates 
the Eastern Suburbs, C

entral Business District and 
parts of the Inner W

est.

Prior to European colonisation and developm
ent, the 

lands of the G
adigal people, also know

n as the spear 
grass people, w

ere abundant in resources. The study 
area and surrounds w

ere a w
aterscape of perm

anent 
and sem

i-perm
anent w

etlands supporting w
aterbirds, 

freshw
ater fish and turtles, forests of paperbark and 

sw
am

p m
ahogany, sedges, reeds, ferns and lilies. 

The Kangaroo G
rounds (around present-day Sum

m
er 

H
ill) w

ere on the w
estern border of their land, a border 

shared w
ith the W

anegal. This w
as a hunting ground 

abundant w
ith m

acropods, w
hich could be used not 

only for food but also for their hides. 7

Activities such as hunting, fishing, harvesting native 
plants and collecting fresh w

ater w
ere com

m
on 

occurrences that supported a diet w
hich com

prised 
prim

arily of fish, shellfish and other aquatic anim
als. 8 

The G
adigal crafted spear shafts from

 C
asuarina 

trees and glued them
 w

ith resin from
 G

ulgadya (the 
grass tree). The archaeological record also provides 
evidence for the use of stone m

aterials to create tools 
and w

eapons. 9 W
hilst they w

ere adept and skilled 
at living and hunting on the land, the land w

as also 
the sacred container and the blank canvas for their 
stories, artistry and culture.

3: U
rbis, Archaeological Assessm

ent included in C
ox Inall Ridgew

ay, 
Botany Road C

orridor, Indigenous C
ultural H

eritage Study, 2020. 
4: Kohen, J. 1993. The Darug and their neighbours: the traditional 
Aboriginal ow

ners of the Sydney region. Darug Link in association w
ith 

Blacktow
n and District H

istorical Society, 1993, p.10.
5: H

ughes, R. 1987. The fatal shore: the epic of Australia’s founding. 
N

ew
 York: Am

erica.
6: Tindale, N

. 1974. Aboriginal Tribes of Australia. Their Terrain, 
Environm

ental C
ontrols, Distribution, Lim

its and Proper N
am

es. AN
U

 
Press, C

anberra: Australia.See also Turbett,1989.
7: Ashfield & District H

istorical Society, 1996. ‘A Short W
alk Through 

Ashfield’s Past’, booklet.
8: Tench, W

. 1789. A N
arrative of the Expedition to Botany Bay, p.53. 

C
ited in Flannery, 2012. W

atkin Tench: 1788, The Text Publishing 
C

om
pany, M

elbourne: Australia.
9: Attenbrow, V. 2002. Sydney’s Aboriginal Past. U

niversity of N
ew

 South 
W

ales Press, Sydney: Australia.

Figure 12: Aboriginal w
om

an in a canoe (naw
i) fishing w

ith a line, c1805 
Source: Attributed to G

eorge C
harles Jenner and W

.W
. [W

illiam
 W

aterhouse]. M
itchell Library, 

State Library of N
SW

 - N
atives of N

ew
 South W

ales; draw
n from

 life in Botany Bay - PXB 513).

Figure 13: 1804, Pem
ulw

uy - ‘Pim
bloy: N

ative of N
ew

 
H

olland in a canoe of that country’, engraving, on sheet, 
20.8 x 26.0 cm

. Sam
uel John N

eele (1758-1824) 
Source: State Library of Victoria, available online: http://handle.slv.vic.
gov.au/10381/255651

Figure 14: Aborigines hunting w
aterbirds, c1817. 

Source: Lycett, Joseph, w
atercolour ; 17.5 x 27.7 cm

. M
itchell 

Library, State Library of N
SW

, C
all N

um
ber: PIC

 M
S STRO

N
G 

RO
O

M
 12/1/4 #R5675.

Figure 15: Aborigines hunting w
aterbirds in the rushes, 

c1817. 
Source: Lycett, Joseph, w

atercolour ; 17.7 x 27.7 cm
. M

itchell 
Library, State Library of N

SW
, C

all N
um

ber: PIC
 M

S STRO
N

G 
RO

O
M

 12/1/4 #R5690.
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3.4.2 Post C
ontact

Though increasingly displaced from
 their traditional 

lands by the expanding colonial settlem
ents, in 

the early days of the C
olony, the G

adigal people 
continued to live in the w

etlands, forests and banksia 
shrubs of the sandhills w

hich w
ould also have 

provided them
 w

ith an abundant source of food. 

It is estim
ated, how

ever, that by 1790 over half of the 
Aboriginal population in the region w

ere lost to the 
effects of sm

allpox and the dispossession of their land 
and resources by C

olonial settlers. 11

W
hile interactions and exchanges of various natures 

and degree w
ith the colonists w

ere not uncom
m

on, 
the Eora people continued to practice a traditional 
w

ay of life into the first decades of the nineteenth 
century,  w

ith the G
adigal culture still surviving today. 10

Despite their displacem
ent and losses, the study area 

continued to provide the stage for m
any events and 

w
as an im

portant m
eeting point for Aboriginal people 

throughout the 1790s. The area is surrounded by 
know

n sites w
here Aboriginal people cam

ped, held 
cerem

onies and resolved disputes. These included 
near w

hat is now
 Redfern Park, Victoria Park and at 

Prince Alfred Park w
here Aboriginal cerem

onies w
ere 

often w
itnessed by hundreds of spectators from

 the 
nearby tow

nship. 12 13

At the tim
e of first contact, a traditional Aboriginal 

trading route roughly follow
ed the route of today’s 

Botany Road and w
as an im

portant corridor for trade 
and m

ovem
ent for Aboriginal people in early Sydney. 

This track connected Aboriginal clans and nations 
betw

een Port Jackson and Botany Bay. Redfern Street 
is also likely to have been form

ed on another early 
route that ran along the ridge and high ground w

hich 
tracked the m

ovem
ent of Aboriginal people travelling 

east-w
est across the study area. 14

10: Flannery, T. 1999. The Birth of Sydney, p. 22 
11: Attenbrow, 2010; O

CP Architects, 2017; O
tto Cserhalm

i & Partners, 
2002, in Redfern Station Upgrade – New

 Southern Concourse EIS (Chapter 
15), M

ay 2020.
12: C

ollins, D. 1798, An Account of the English C
olony in N

ew
 South 

W
ales, Volum

e 1, Dec 1793, T. C
adell Jun. and W

. Davies, London.
13: C

ollins, David, 1802, An Account of the English C
olony in N

ew
 

South W
ales From

 Its First Settlem
ent, in January 1788, to August 1801, 

Volum
e 2, O

ct 1796, T. C
adell Jun. and W

. Davies, London. 
14: H

unter, J. 1793, An H
istorical Journal of the Transactions at Port 

Jackson and N
orfolk Island, printed for John Stockdale, London.

15: Lam
pert, 1985. Excavation Report on M

arty Bond Store.

Figure 16: Turning the first sod for the new
 railw

ay station 
at Prince Alfred Park, Sydney, N

.S.W
. 3rd July 1850.

Source: John Rae, 1850. M
itchell Library, State Library of N

ew
 South 

W
ales, view

ed 2 August 2017, http://archival.sl.nsw.gov.au/Details/
archive/110314731

There is abundant archaeological evidence throughout 
Sydney of contact betw

een the local G
adigal people 

and early European settlers. This evidence exists 
in the form

 of contact sites, w
ith m

aterial rem
ains 

including knapped ceram
ic and glass, European 

m
aterials in m

iddens, and rock engravings depicting 
the arrival of Europeans. 15

The developm
ent of Redfern and the surrounding 

suburbs during the late nineteenth and early tw
entieth 

centuries attracted Aboriginal people back to the 
area. M

any found em
ploym

ent in the Eveleigh Railw
ay 

W
orkshops and other factories nearby. Aboriginal 

Redfern w
as a place w

here Aboriginal people cam
e 

together from
 m

any N
SW

 nations.

14
| C

om
m
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3.5 H
istorical O

verview
 

1788-2020

Figure 17: A survey prepared in 1838 show
ing the land grants m

ade to W
illiam

 Redfern (100 acres), and W
illiam

 
C

hippendale (95 acres) beside Regent Street.  South of these w
as W

illiam
 H

utchinson’s grant (1400 acres).  Im
age 

reorientated for reproduction in this report.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (M

2 811/1819/1838/1)

16: Fitzgerald, S, C
hippendale. Beneath the factory w

all, H
alstead Press, 

1990, p.16.
17: Benson, D and J H

ow
ell, Taken for G

ranted.  The bushland of Sydney 
and its suburbs, Kangaroo Press, 1990, p.9 and p.66.
18: O

ld Register C
onveyance Book 8 Page 231.

19: O
ld System

 Lease and Release (C
onveyance) Book G

 N
o. 246.

20: O
ld System

 Lease and Release (C
onveyance) Book G

 N
o. 253.

21: N
SW

 State Archives and Records Index to C
olonial Secretary’s 

Papers 1788-1825.  Reel 6048; 4/1742 p.360 & Reel 6007; 4/3501 
pp.172-3.
22: N

SW
 State Archives and Records Index to C

olonial Secretary’s 
Papers 1788-1825.  Reel 6052; 4/1751 pp.237-40.
23: N

SW
 State Archives and Records Index to C

olonial Secretary’s 
Papers 1788-1825.  Reel 6056; 4/1765 pp.169-169c.

3.5.1 Sydney Borderland (grants and land 
use)
The line of Regent Street/Botany Road transects the 
C

row
n grants m

ade to W
illiam

 H
utchinson and W

illiam
 

C
hippendale:  H

utchinson’s grant is located south 
of Boundary Street, w

hile C
hippendale’s grant is to 

north, and the w
est of Botany Street. (Figure 17)

The earliest of these grants w
as the one m

ade to 
W

illiam
 C

hippendale in January 1816 (confirm
ed 

in 1819), and it com
prised an area of 95 acres.  

C
hippendale (1781-1839) had arrived in the colony in 

1815 as a free settler and his grant com
prised land 

north to Parram
atta Road inclusive of frontage to 

Black W
attle C

reek.  By 1817 C
hippendale and his 

fam
ily w

ere residing near the creek, running cattle and 
raising crops. 16  The C

hippendale grant com
prises 

W
ianam

atta Shale derived soils, w
hich are suitable for 

som
e agricultural uses. 17

In 1822 C
hippendale sold the grant to Solom

on Levey 
for 380 pounds. 18  Levey (1794-1833) in contrast 
w

as one of the form
er convicts in the colony that 

had m
ade the m

ost of their m
isfortune and am

assed 
w

ealth.  Levey returned to London in 1826 and died 
there in O

ctober 1833.  Levey sold m
ost of the land 

(62&1/2 acres) to m
erchant W

illiam
 Torkington in 1833 

for 312 pounds 10 shillings. 19  In 1834 Torkington 
sold the sam

e land to W
illiam

 H
utchinson for exactly 

the sam
e am

ount. 20 H
utchinson w

as the grantee of 
the W

aterloo estate discussed below, and also the 
grantee of the G

olden G
rove estate (Darlington), 

com
prising 52 acres granted in 1819.

The largest of the grants com
prised an area of 1400 

acres and w
as m

ade to W
illiam

 H
utchinson in M

ay 
1823.  H

utchinson (1772-1846) had arrived in the 

colony in 1799 to serve a penal sentence.  O
n arrival 

he w
as sent to N

orfolk Island, and w
as soon an 

overseer of G
overnm

ent stock, and in 1809 becam
e 

the Superintendent of C
onvicts for this island colony.  

H
utchinson cam

e to Sydney in 1814 and w
as 

appointed to the position of Principal Superintendent 
of C

onvicts and Public W
orks for the colony of 

N
SW

.  By then H
utchinson w

as already a w
ealthy 

and influential m
an, although he rem

ained on the 
governm

ent’s pay roll until 1823.

H
utchinson probably had acquired the 1400 acres 

prior to 1823, and certainly had possession by 1819 
it seem

s w
hen he w

as building a w
ater pow

ered 
flour m

ill, w
hich had com

m
enced production by 

early 1820. 21  H
utchinson’s W

aterloo in its natural 
state com

prised sand hills w
ith banksia scrub, 

w
ater courses and sw

am
ps.  W

ithout significant soil 
im

provem
ent the grant w

as ill-suited to agriculture, 
but the w

ater resource w
as good for stock grazing 

and agistm
ent, and represented liquid gold for the 

industrialist of the colonial era.  In 1820 H
utchinson 

w
ent into partnership w

ith Sam
uel Terry, Daniel 

C
ooper, G

eorge W
illiam

s, W
illiam

 Leverton, and 
Tom

 W
hite M

elville W
inder as part ow

ner of the m
ill 

now
 called the Lachlan and W

aterloo Flour M
ill. 22 

In 1823 the m
ill w

as expanded to distill sugar for 
the production of rum

. 23  The w
ater used in these 

processes w
as pooled w

ithin a system
 of reservoirs 

know
n as the Big W

aterloo Dam
, the Little W

aterloo 
Dam

, U
pper Dam

, etc. 

In 1825 H
utchinson sold his share in the com

pany, 
and w

ith it the W
aterloo estate, to Daniel C

ooper 
(1785-1853) and Solom

on Levey (1794-1833) in 1825; 
tw

o em
ancipist m

erchants w
ho had entered into a 

business partnership in that year.  In 1826 the pair 
founded the firm

 C
ooper and Levey and opened the 

large W
aterloo W

arehouse at the corner of M
arket 

and G
eorge-streets, Sydney.  H

utchinson and C
ooper 

how
ever continued in business together for in 1829 

the pair purchased John Thom
as C

am
pbell’s (1770?-

1830) neighbouring M
ount Lachlan grant com

prising 
185 acres.  After the death of Levey in 1833 the 
W

aterloo estate w
as under the sole ow

nership of 
Daniel C

ooper, although ensuing legal proceedings 
w

ere not resolved in C
ooper’s favour until 1843.

15
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Figure 18: Detail from
 W

illiam
 H

enry W
ells’ ‘Sketch shew

ing the w
ater reserve and the country betw

een Sydney and 
Botany.’  The survey recorded the focus of industry at the centre of the W

aterloo estate and Botany Road w
as routed 

to intersect w
ith that industrial undertaking.  Also recorded w

as that Regent Street/Botany Road w
as the division line 

betw
een Redfern and C

hippendale.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (M

2 811.18/1850/1)

Road access betw
een Sydney and the northern shore 

of Botany Bay w
as im

portant in the early colonial era, 
and a road, the O

ld Botany Road (Anzac Parade), 
betw

een the tw
o bays w

as form
ed in 1813. 24 This 

new
 road com

m
enced at South H

ead Road (O
xford 

Street). 25 

Botany Road w
as built probably in the late 1810s as 

a private venture to connect the m
ill on the W

aterloo 
estate to the governm

ent stores at Sydney.  The 
original northern alignm

ent of Botany Road m
erged 

into G
eorge Street leading to the W

aterloo W
arehouse, 

and onto the governm
ent stores at Sydney C

ove 
(C

ircular Q
uay).  The m

ill and dam
 w

ere located just 
south of Bourke Street in W

aterloo.  The road quite 
possibly follow

ed an existing Aboriginal track leading 
through the sand hills to the food source of the 
sw

am
p lands.

Botany Road w
as not scheduled for m

aintenance 
paid by the governm

ent under the roads act passed 
in 1833 (4 W

illiam
 IV N

o. 11), 26 and up keep of 
m

aintaining it w
as m

et by the local land ow
ners.  The 

m
aintenance of the road w

as im
proved from

 late 
1844

27 after the establishm
ent of a road trust and 

collection of a toll from
 local land ow

ners and users of 
the road under the provisions of Parish Roads Act of 
1840.  The first road in the colony to becom

e a parish 
road follow

ing the enactm
ent of this Act w

as the O
ld 

Botany Road (Anzac Parade). 28   

Prelim
inary to the dedication of Botany Road as a 

parish road the alignm
ent w

as surveyed by C
aptain 

W
ilson in January 1842. 29   The toll bar betw

een 1844 
and 1863 w

as located at the entry to Botany Road 
opposite the intersection w

ith Redfern Street. 30   

The m
aintenance of Botany Road w

as poor and 
consequently one of the first actions of Redfern 
C

ouncil w
as to have that section of the road 

north of Boundary Street transferred to its care. 31   
C

onsequently, the toll bar w
as relocated south in 

1863 to a new
 location near Boundary Street, and 

another toll bar w
as erected in the vicinity of present 

day G
reen Square railw

ay station. 32 The old road trust 
at that tim

e w
as disbanded as a tem

porary m
easure 

and the upkeep of the parish road through W
aterloo 

becam
e the responsibility of the C

ook’s River Road 
Trust (King Street/Princes H

ighw
ay). 33  The length of 

Botany Road north of Boundary Street w
as renam

ed 
Regent Street in about 1875.

In 1886 the toll w
as abolished entirely, and 

m
aintaining Botany Road south of Boundary Street 

becam
e part responsibility of W

aterloo M
unicipal 

C
ouncil and Alexandria M

unicipal C
ouncil. 34   As the 

governm
ent tram

w
ay also utilised the roadw

ay, the 
N

SW
 G

overnm
ent contributed a third of the annual 

m
aintenance cost.

Reform
 of the m

aintenance and building of public 
roads in N

SW
 w

as undertaken in 1925 w
ith the 

establishm
ent of the M

ain Roads Board (Departm
ent 

of M
ain Roads from

 1933, and m
any other nam

es 
since).  Botany Road w

as then scheduled M
ain Road 

170 and the new
 statutory authority w

as responsible 
for m

aintaining it. 35  Prior to this, betw
een 1922 and 

1926 a re-constituted Botany Road Trust (under the 
Botany Road Trust C

onstitution Act) w
as responsible 

for the m
anagem

ent of the road, and it reconstructed 
part of the road w

ithin W
aterloo/Alexandria w

ith a 
concrete road surface. 36 

Traffi
c along Botany Road probably increased 

increm
entally from

 the m
id 1880s; initially ow

ing to 
the em

erging housing estates w
ithin Alexandria and 

W
aterloo, and the railw

ay w
orks at Eveleigh; then the 

beginning of light industry and w
arehousing in the 

southern part of Sydney from
 the 1910s and opening 

of the Alexandria G
oods Yard in 1917.

24: N
SW

 State Archives and Records Index to C
olonial Secretary’s 

Papers 1788-1825. Reel 6043; 4/1728 pp.31-4.
25: The Roadm

akers. A history of m
ain roads in N

SW
, Departm

ent of 
M

ain Roads, 1976, p. 12 (Roadm
akers 1976).

26: Roadm
akers 1976, p. 25.

27: ‘Parish Road Act’, Australian, 17/12/1844, p.3.
28:  Roadm

akers 1976, p.25.
29: N

SW
 State Archives and Record N

SW
 M

ap 5259.
30: W

oolcott and C
larke, M

ap of C
ity of Sydney, 1854.

31: ‘Rem
oval of the Toll Bar, Redfern’, Sydney M

orning H
erald, 

9/121859, p.4.
32: ‘The District of Botany’, Sydney M

ail, 27/8/1864, p.7.
33: ‘The Botany Road Toll’, Sydney M

ail, 9/1/1864, p.5.  ‘M
udbank and 

C
ook’s River Road Trust’, Sydney M

orning H
erald, 3/5/1864, p.8.  ‘The 

Botany Road’, Sydney M
orning H

erald, 6/6/1864, p.2.
34: Rem

oval of the Tollbar, SM
H

 22/5/1886, p.9.
35: Roadm

akers 1976, p.82 and m
ap betw

een p, 80 and p. 81.
36: ‘Botany Road. Dissolution of Trust’, Daily Telegraph, 24/9/1926, p.3.

3.5.2 Botany R
oad

Figure 19: 1929 Botany Road resurfacing concrete slab.
Source: State Library of N

SW
: w

w
w

.digital.sl.nsw
.gov.au, G

PO 
1-14192, FL1810163
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Figure 20: Detail from
 the governm

ent m
ap of the parish of Alexandria.  N

ot dated, but m
id 1830s.  This survey 

recorded the alignm
ent of Regent Street/Botany Road w

ithin the study area m
uch as it is today.  The alignm

ent north 
of C

leveland Street changed later ow
ing to the railw

ay developm
ents.  The road surface evidently w

as form
ed and it 

included bridges/culverts for the creek crossings.
Source: N

SW
 State Archives and Records (M

ap 185)

Figure 21: The alignm
ent of Regent Street/Botany Road is 

show
n in this plan of January 1842 prepared by C

aptain 
W

ilson.  The survey w
as undertaken to dedicate the road 

a parish road.  W
ilson recorded an existing alignm

ent that 
w

as continued w
ith, and another alignm

ent follow
ing the 

future Botany (C
ope) Street south to the W

aterloo M
ill 

recom
m

ended by Edw
ard Knapp.

Source: N
SW

 State Archives and Records (M
ap 5259).

Figure 22: Detail from
 W

oolcott and C
larkes’ com

m
ercial m

ap of Sydney published in 1854.  It recorded the toll gate 
of the Botany Parish Road.  Introduced in 1844, it w

as relocated in 1863 to beside Boundary Street.  The 1844 toll 
gate also included a dw

elling for the toll collector that encroached onto the road.  Later historical accounts noted the 
im

pedim
ent and danger to traffi

c this dw
elling caused.

Source: Sydney C
ity Archives M

ap Atlas, available online.
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3.5.3 Em
erging Villages (1842-1860s)

Redfern
The first subdivision at Redfern in freehold for closer 
settlem

ent of the early colonial era grants occurred in 
1842 w

ith the sale of Dr W
illiam

 Redfern’s grant of 100 
acres issued in 1817.  Redfern’s grant is located east 
of Botany (C

ope) Street and outside the study area. 
(Figure 23)

Another portion of C
hippendale’s grant, com

prising 
an area of about four acres, w

as sold in O
ctober 1833 

to Jam
es Foster and Jam

es N
orton by Levey for 40 

pounds, 37  w
ho in turn sold the property to W

illiam
 

C
harles W

entw
orth in June 1835 for 145 pounds. 38   

This land com
prises the triangle shaped block 

betw
een Botany (C

ope) and Regent-streets, bounded 
on the south by the W

aterloo Estate. 

Subdivision in freehold of this area com
m

enced in 
1842 at the tim

e of the Redfern sale, 39  but m
ost sales 

seem
 to have occurred in the early 1850s.  The early 

subdivision plan has survived. 40

Figure 23: Detail from
 the plan of Redfern’s grant,  subdivided into allotm

ents for sale by auctioneer Thom
as Stubbs in 

M
arch 1842.  This subdivision form

ed Botany (C
ope) Street.  Also show

n w
est of Redfern’s grant is the triangle shaped 

block ow
ned by W

illiam
 C

harles W
entw

orth discussed in this report.  Im
age reorientated for reproduction in this report.

Source: State Library of N
SW

 (Z/M
3 811.18193/1842/1)

Figure 24: (Right) This sketch survey of the subdivision of W
C

 W
entw

orths’s portion of the C
hippendale estate betw

een 
Regent and Botany (C

ope)-streets w
as prepared probably about 1842 w

hen sales com
m

enced, and after the Redfern 
estate w

as subdivided.  Im
age reorientated for reproduction in this report.

Source: State Library of N
SW

 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N
o.118)

Figure 25: Detail from
 W

oolcott and C
larke’s com

m
ercial 

m
ap of Sydney published in 1854.  This m

ap recorded 
developm

ent w
ithin W

entw
orth’s subdivision located 

betw
een Regent Street and Botany (C

ope) Street.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives, M
ap Atlas.

37: O
ld System

 Lease and Release (C
onveyance) Book G

 N
o 259.

38: O
ld System

 Lease and Release (C
onveyance) Book H

 N
o. 389.

39: Lots 2 & 3 sold in M
ay 1842. O

ld System
 C

onveyance Book 3 N
o. 

54.0
40: State Library of N

SW
 Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o. 118.
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Figure 26: A tracing of the subdivision of W
illiam

 
H

utchinson’s property at C
hippendale/Redfern under 

the term
s of his W

ill.  M
arked-up to show

 the three 
Blocks betw

een Law
son and Boundary-streets.  Im

age 
reorientated for reproduction in this report, and best 
reproduction quality possible.
Source: N

ational Library of Australia (M
ap F 553).

Figure 27: (Left) Detail from
 a survey of Redfern dated 1865.  M

arked up to show
 the boundaries of Block D (later 

subdivided in Deposited Plan 80), Block E (later subdivided in Deposited Plan 4209 and contem
poraneous Deposited 

Plan 3954), and Block F (later subdivided in Deposited Plan 18034).
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives (A-0088370).

In 1844, and shortly before his death, W
illiam

 
H

utchinson subdivided his substantial portion of the 
C

hippendale grant into six allotm
ents of betw

een 
six and ten acres. 41   This subdivision becam

e the 
partition of his estate on his death in 1846.  W

ithin the 
study area w

ere Blocks D, E and F, and, to the north 
across Law

son Street, part of the Eveleigh Estate.  
Eveleigh w

as ow
ned by H

utchinson’s third daughter 
M

ary (1809-1849) w
ho had m

arried John Rose H
olden 

(died 18860) in Sydney in 1834.

U
nder H

utchinson’s W
ill the blocks w

ere bequeathed 
to his nom

inated children and w
ere then to pass to 

nom
inated grandchildren.  The land could not be 

sold, but leases w
ere perm

itted w
ith a m

axim
um

 term
 

of 21 years. 42 The arrangem
ent w

as sim
ilar to the 

w
ay the U

ltim
o Estate w

as entailed under Dr John 
H

arris’s W
ill.  In the instance of H

utchinson’s land at 
C

hippendale/Redfern each Block w
as disposed off by 

sale in freehold follow
ing the death of the nom

inated 
beneficiary, w

hich occurred in 1870 (sold in 1871), in 
1901 (sold in 1902/03), and 1932 (sold in 1937).

The streets betw
een Regent Street and the railw

ay 
to the southern boundary (Boundary Street) w

ere 
form

ed either in the partition (Rose H
ill) or later in the 

subdivision of the Blocks (inclusive of M
arian, and 

G
ibbons (originally Pleasant)).

The subdivision of the H
utchinson fam

ily land 
com

m
enced in the m

id 1850s and continued into 
the early 1860s.  The tim

ing of these land sales in 
leasehold resulted from

 the opening of the railw
ay 

in 1855 w
ith the term

inus then being located 
across C

leveland Street and the opportunities that 
provided.  This contrasts w

ith the 1842 sale of the 
Redfern Estate that w

as a consequence of econom
ic 

dow
nturn.

41: State Library of N
SW

 M
ap ZM

4 811.18194/1844/1.
42: Recited in H

utchinson Estate Act of 1884.
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Figure 28: The plan of subdivision of Block D (Deposited Plan 80) offered for sale in 1871.  This plan  recorded the 
extent of developm

ent undertaken in leasehold from
 1854.  W

ells Street is the present day area of Law
son Square.

Source: State Library of N
SW

 (Z/M
2 811.18194/1871/1)

Figure 29: N
ew

spaper notice published in 1871 describing 
the sale of Block D in freehold.  It noted the ‘great num

ber 
of .. cottages thereon’.
Source: Em

pire, 4/11/1871, p.4.

Block D
 w

as inherited by M
rs Sarah N

ichols for the 
duration of her life, and after her death to her only 
son W

illiam
 C

harles N
ichols (1830-1857). 43 M

rs 
N

ichols (1812-1870) w
as one of W

illiam
 H

utchinson’s 
daughters, and w

ife of Isaac David (1807-1867), the 
eldest son of Isaac N

ichols (1770-1819), the first 
Postm

aster G
eneral of N

SW
.  In 1849 M

rs N
ichols 

leased Block D to solicitor Joseph Yeom
ans for a 

term
 of 21 years w

ith an annual rental of 40 pounds. 44   
Yeom

ans died in 1852, and his executor, John 
Yeom

ans (possibly sibling), com
m

enced subdivision 
and sales in 1854. 45 By 1864 m

ost of Block D had 
been developed. 46   

M
rs N

ichols died in 1870, the year w
hen Yeom

ans’ 
lease expired.  In 1871 a new

 slightly am
ended 

subdivision w
as form

ed (Deposited Plan 80) and sales 
of the allotm

ents com
m

enced in freehold title.  It is 
not docum

ented (no rate books available) if the 1850s 
developm

ents w
ere cleared, or if they w

ere retained 
follow

ing the 1871 sales.

43: Recited in Prim
ary Application 10497 Sketchbook.

44: O
ld System

 Lease Book 33 No. 771.
45: Lease of Lot 5 O

ld System
 Book 34 No. 381.

46: ‘Plan of Redfern M
unicipality by G

eorge Renw
ick’. State Library of NSW

 
M

aps/0311.
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Figure 30: This sketch survey of Block E w
as prepared in 

1860.  It recorded no existing developm
ent.  The area w

as 
subdivided in 1861 w

ith the allotm
ents offered for sale 

in leasehold.  Im
age reorientated for reproduction in this 

report.
Source: N

SW
 Land Registry Services (O

ld System
 Book 71 N

o. 56).

Figure 31: N
ot dated, but probably 1861 and recording the subdivision in leasehold undertaken by John Lackey.  Im

age 
reorientated for reproduction in this report.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o. 80)

Block E w
as inherited by another H

utchinson 
daughter, M

rs M
artha Ann Drum

m
ond Roberts (1815-

1901), for the duration of her life, and after her death 
to her children by her m

arriage to Joseph Roberts. 47   
M

r Roberts died in 1849, and in 1851 M
artha m

arried 
the m

uch younger John Lackey (1830-1903).

In Decem
ber 1860 M

rs Lackey leased Bock E to her 
father in law, W

illiam
 Lackey (1801-1880), for a term

 of 
21 years w

ith an annual ground rent of 70 pounds. 48   
O

n the follow
ing day, W

illiam
 Lackey assigned the 

lease back to M
rs Lackey’s husband, John, on the 

sam
e term

s. 49   John Lackey earlier in 1860 had 
entered the N

SW
 Legislative Assem

bly representing 
the seat of Parram

atta, w
here he resided.  Lackey 

w
as the secretary (m

inister) for public w
orks betw

een 
1875-1877, and 1878-1883 w

hen m
any of the colony’s 

railw
ays w

ere being built and the Eveleigh w
orks 

w
as under construction.  H

e w
as knighted in 1894.  

John Lackey subdivided Block E and com
m

enced 
sales in leasehold in about 1861. 50   By 1864 m

ost 
of Block E had been developed. 51   After the death 
of Lady Lackey in 1901, Block E w

as subdivided for 
sale in freehold in 1902 (in Deposited Plan 4209 and 
Deposited Plan 3954) w

ith a new
 subdivision pattern.

47: Recited in Prim
ary Application 10497 Sketchbook.

48: O
ld System

 Lease Book 71 No. 56.
49: O

ld System
  Assignm

ent of Lease Book 71 N
o. 57.

50: Lease of Lots 2-6, Section 2, Block E in O
ld System

 Lease Book 101 
N

o. 800.
51: Plan of Redfern M

unicipality by G
eorge Renw

ick’. State Library of 
N

SW
 M

aps/0311.

Figure 32: N
ew

spaper notice published in 1903 describing 
the sale of Block E in freehold.  The sale included the 
Bunnerong H

otel.
Source: Sydney M

orning H
erald, 5/12/1903, p.19.
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Figure 33: The revised plan of subdivision of Block E in freehold undertaken in 1902 in Deposited Plan 4209.  The 
Regent Street allotm

ents w
ere re-subdivided in Deposited Plan 3954 around the sam

e tim
e.  Im

age reorientated for 
reproduction in this report.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o.4)

Figure 34: N
ew

spaper notice published in 1937 for the 
sale of Block F in freehold.  It noted a num

ber of existing 
shops and various types of hom

es dating from
 the 1861 

leasehold subdivision.  By 1937 they w
ere assessed as 

‘not in keeping w
ith the im

portance of the position’, and 
suggested redevelopm

ent into w
arehouses, etc.

Source: Sydney M
orning H

erald, 3/3/1937, p.2.

Block F w
as inherited by W

illiam
 H

utchinson G
ibbons 

for the duration of his life, and after by his son. 52 
G

ibbons (1823-1893) w
as W

illiam
 H

utchinson’s 
grandson by the m

arriage of eldest daughter C
harlotte 

Selina H
utchinson (1805-1838) to m

aster m
ariner 

M
atthew

 John G
ibbons in 1822.  M

r G
ibbons died in 

1832, and C
harlotte rem

arried in that year to Thom
as 

Dangar of M
aitland.  

In 1861 W
H

 G
ibbons leased Block F to H

enry 
Lipscom

b (1828-1891) for a term
 of 18 years, paying 

an annual ground rent of 60 pounds. 53  Lipscom
b 

subdivided Block F in 1861 and com
m

enced sales in 
leasehold. 54  By 1864 m

ost of the allotm
ents had been 

developed. 55  

W
illiam

 H
utchinson G

ibbons died in 1893, and Block 
F w

as retained by his executors, sons W
illiam

 Kenny 
G

ibbons (1845-1922), Thom
as G

eorge G
ordon 

G
ibbons (1856-1942), and John Rose H

utchinson 
G

ibbons (1851-1932), to distribute the rents to the 
five daughters during their lifetim

e. 56 The dealings of 
these beneficiaries w

ould require further research, but 
after the death of JH

R G
ibbons in 1932 the freehold 

of Block F w
as subdivided and sold in 1937 by his 

executors, m
em

bers of the Stephenson fam
ily and the 

U
nion Trustee C

om
pany of Australia. 57

52: Recited in Prim
ary Application 10497 Sketchbook.

53: O
ld System

 Lease Book 70 N
o. 849

54: See O
ld System

 Lease Book 71 N
o. 236(A).

55: ‘Plan of Redfern M
unicipality by G

eorge Renw
ick’. State Library of 

N
SW

 M
aps/0311.

56: ‘W
ill of the late M

t W
M

H
 G

ibbons’, Evening N
ew

s, 12/9/1893, p.6.
57: Prim

ary Application 32514 and Torrens Title Vol 4799 Fol 136.

Figure 35: Plan of subdivision of Block F in freehold 
undertaken in 1937 in Deposited Plan 18034.  This 
subdivision respected the existing leasehold allotm

ents 
and dem

olition of the developm
ents show

n w
as not a 

necessity.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o.289)

22
| C

om
m

ercial In C
onfidence |

Botany Road C
orridor U

rban Design Study | N
on-Indigenous H

eritage Study | Decem
ber 2020 | Tonkin Zulaikha G

reer | C
ity of Sydney  

3

866



D
ocum

entary Analysis

Figure 36: Detail from
 a sketch survey by surveyors 

Daw
son and Daw

son of the leaseholds on the W
aterloo 

Estate m
ade prior to 1888.

Source: N
SW

 Land Registry Services (O
ld System

 Book 385 N
o 

757)

Table 1: Detail from
 a sketch survey by surveyors Daw

son 
and Daw

son of the leaseholds on the W
aterloo Estate 

m
ade prior to 1888.

Source: N
SW

 Land Registry Services (O
ld System

 Book 385 N
o 

757)

W
aterloo and Alexandria

The area south of Boundary Street is part of C
ooper’s 

W
aterloo Estate.  That Daniel C

ooper in his lifetim
e 

let parts of the W
aterloo is apparent by historical 

new
spaper advertisem

ents, but no plan of these 
seem

s to have survived.  In 1853 C
ooper died and his 

Point Piper Estate (W
oollahra) w

as inherited by the 
first born son of his nephew, (later Sir) Daniel C

ooper 
(1821-1902), w

ho also bore their nam
e, Daniel C

ooper 
(1848-1909).  H

is nephew
’s second son, W

illiam
 

C
harles C

ooper (1852-1925), inherited the W
aterloo 

Estate, and another nephew, John C
ooper (1830-

1915), inherited the Thrupp Estate (N
eutral Bay) on the 

north shore.  

The C
ooper fam

ily after 1853 in general m
anaged their 

lands in leasehold w
here it w

as disposed of at a low
 

ground rental to lessees on term
s of 99 years w

ith the 
lessee in-turn entering into sub-leases. C

hanges in the 
taxation system

 introduced from
 the m

id 1890s placed 
a heavy financial burden on the C

ooper fam
ily as 

ow
ners, and from

 about 1912 the W
aterloo Estate w

as 
broken up through subdivision in freehold title.

W
illiam

 C
harles C

ooper w
as an infant w

hen he 
inherited W

aterloo, and his affairs w
ere adm

inistered 
by his trustee Daniel C

ooper (1821-1902) w
ho entered 

into a num
ber of leases of portions of the W

aterloo 
Estate from

 1855. The leases w
ere m

ade piecem
eal 

w
ith the site area reflecting the requirem

ents of the 
lessee. Resulting from

 this w
as a subdivision pattern 

that w
as irregular in com

parison w
ith the orderly 

subdivisions in Redfern.

The original (up to 1888) leaseholders of the 
allotm

ents fronting Botany Road betw
een Boundary 

Street and M
cEvoy Street are show

n in Table 1:

W
EST SID

E O
F 

BO
TAN

Y RO
AD

EAST SID
E O

F BO
TAN

Y 
RO

AD

H
ere Boundary Street

N
o. 107 

1/1/1858 
G

eorge W
ilson 

54ft by 86 ft

N
o. 42 

1/12/1856 
C

harles C
ains 

1 acres 0 rood 0 perch 
(hereafter 1.0.0)

N
o. 114 

1/1/1865 
Isaac G

ane 
0.0.24

N
o. 39 

1/1/1855 
C

harles W
ilkes 

0.2.5

N
o. 133 

1/7/1865 
W

illiam
 Fairs 

0.0.12

N
o. 26 

28/1/1857 
Thom

as Pendergast 
1.0.0

H
ere C

hapel Lane

N
o. 154 

1/4/1868 
W

illiam
 Dart 

107ft by 97ft

N
o. 127 

1/4/1864 
Edm

ond O
’N

eill 
0.0.9

N
o. 115 

1/10/1861 
Robert G

ault 
0/0.21&3/4

N
o. 64 

1/1/1856 
W

illam
 W

est 
1.0.0

H
ere H

enderson Road
H

ere Raglan Street

W
EST SID

E O
F 

BO
TAN

Y RO
AD

EAST SID
E O

F BO
TAN

Y 
RO

AD

N
o. 41 

25/10/1855 
H

enry Bryan 
1.0.0 & 1.0.0

N
os. 40 & 40a 

1/4/1857 & 1/7/1857 
W

illiam
 Pow

ell 
1.2.37 and 1.2.0

N
o. 40b 

1/4/1856 
W

illiam
 Pow

ell 
0.3.12

N
o. 67 

1/10/1855 
Thom

as G
alliot 

1.0.0

H
ere Kirkland Street

H
ere W

ellington Street 

N
o. 111 

1/4/1865 
G

eorge Siddons 
0.0.21&1/2

N
o. 54 

24/7/1856 
Jam

es G
iffi

n 
1.0.8

N
o. 132 

1/7/1865 
Em

anuel C
arey 

0.0.12&1/2

N
o. 134 

1/7/1865 
W

illiam
 Reid 

0.0.12&1/2

N
o. 136 

1/7/1865 
John Baker 
0.0.13&1/2

N
o. 49 

1/4/1861 
G

eorge Edw
ard W

oods 
1.0.0

W
EST SID

E O
F 

BO
TAN

Y RO
AD

EAST SID
E O

F BO
TAN

Y 
RO

AD

H
ere John Street

N
o. 79 

1/7/1856 
G

eorge Dudley 
0.2.0

N
o 70 

1/7/1868 
Jam

es Ball 
0.2.0

N
o. 70b 

1/7/1868 
Jam

es Ball 
0.2.26

N
o 53  

1/7/1858 
Jam

es G
addis 

0.2.22

N
o 202 

8/8/1877 
Stephen Lofts 
0.0.18

N
o. 214 

29/12/1877 
W

illiam
 C

harles H
arris 

0.0/18

N
o. 220 

22/5/1883 
W

illiam
 C

harles H
arris 

15ft x 128ft

H
ere M

cEvoy Street
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Figure 37: Detail from
 a plan of the Redfern local 

governm
ent area published by H

iginbotham
 and 

Robinson.  N
ot dated, but about 1889.

Source: Sydney C
ity Archives.

Figure 38: Detail from
 a plan of the Alexandria local 

governm
ent area published by H

iginbotham
 and 

Robinson.  N
ot dated, but about 1889.

Source: Sydney C
ity Archives.

Figure 39: Detail from
 a plan of the W

aterloo local 
governm

ent area published by H
iginbotham

 and 
Robinson.  N

ot dated, but about 1889.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives.

Figure 40: 1954 Richard Pow
er M

em
orial G

ates, 
Alexandria Park.
Source: C

ity of Sydney Archives: w
w

w
.archives.cityofsydney.nsw

.
gov.au, C

ity Engineer’s Photographic N
egatives, ID 034\034962.
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3W
hen the early colonial era land grants w

ere cut up 
for suburban developm

ent in the 1840s and 1850s 
there w

as no m
unicipal governm

ent to provide basic 
services inclusive of health and sanitation.  The C

ity 
C

ouncil w
as established in 1842 w

ith its southern 
boundary being C

leveland Street.  The area beyond 
C

leveland Street therefore w
as open to the carrying of 

unregulated noxious trades and the like.

Prior to 1949 the length of Regent Street/Botany 
Road under review

 w
as adm

inistered by three local 
councils.  The first area incorporated w

as Redfern in 
1859, follow

ed after by W
aterloo in 1860, and then 

Alexandria in 1868.  Prior to incorporation in 1859 the 
area w

est of Botany (C
ope) Street w

as considered 
part of C

hippendale.  The boundary betw
een Redfern 

and W
aterloo/Alexandria w

as Boundary Street, and 
the boundary betw

een W
aterloo and Alexandria w

as 
Botany Road.  N

one of these councils erected their 
cham

bers on Botany Road. 

These councils w
ere absorbed by the C

ity C
ouncil in 

1949.

3.5.4 Local G
overnm

ent
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Figure 41: Detail from
 C

raigie’s district m
ap of the C

ity 
of Sydney and im

m
ediate environs published in 1923. It 

recorded the vast scale of the railw
ays w

orks at Eveleigh, 
and to the south of it the Alexandria G

oods Yard opened 
in the form

 depicted in 1917.  C
lose by to the east is 

Botany Road.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Z/M

4 811.17/1923/2).
Figure 42: Detail from

 an aerial photograph by M
ilton Kent looking south along G

ibbons 
Street in the late 1930s.  At left is Law

son Square.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (c083270010)

The historical developm
ent of Redfern as a suburb 

on the city’s inner-fringe com
m

enced in the 1850s 
follow

ing the building of the railw
ay linking the tw

o 
principal population centres in the colony – Sydney 
and Parram

atta.  The railw
ay had been under 

discussion since 1846 w
ith the site for the first Sydney 

term
inus to the north of C

leveland Street being settled 
on in 1848.  This term

inus w
as opened in 1855 and 

continued in service until the opening of C
entral 

Station in 1906, w
here it is today.  

The suburban station at Redfern opened in 1878 
(then nam

ed Eveleigh after the H
utchinson/H

olden 
fam

ily’s Eveleigh H
ouse, and renam

ed Redfern in 
1906).  Also in 1878 land at Redfern w

as resum
ed 

for the building of the centralised railw
ay w

orkshops 
called Eveleigh.  By 1883 a num

ber of tim
ber sheds 

had been com
pleted.  The first locom

otive runnings 
sheds w

ere com
pleted in 1887, and m

any other 
w

orkshops, offi
ces and stores w

ere built after.  By the 
late 1880s Eveleigh w

as one of the largest em
ployers 

in the colony.  There w
as further expansion in the late 

1890s for facilities to m
aintain railw

ay carriages.  In 
the late 1900s Eveleigh com

m
enced construction 

of locom
otives necessitating use of specialised 

m
achinery and additional em

ploym
ent of trained 

engineers and tradesm
en.

The building of Eveleigh encouraged developm
ent of 

surrounding areas such as Redfern and Darlington as 
places of residence for the w

orkers em
ployed there.  It 

also encouraged com
m

encem
ent of private industrial 

enterprise supplying the needs of the railw
ay.  H

udson 
Brothers for exam

ple, although located at C
lyde from

 
1882, com

m
enced building railw

ay stock in 1876 at 
their original w

orkshops on Regent Street (outside 

study area).  The Eveleigh com
plex com

prised 
facilities north (Darlington) and south (Redfern) of the 
railw

ay line.  As the southern half developed around 
1900 further properties w

ere resum
ed. 58  

A little recognised aspect of Eveleigh w
as the 

expansion in 1917 of the goods yard at Alexandria.  
This large covered com

plex replaced the goods yard 
near Devonshire Street that had opened in the 1860s 
and, although expanded as recently as 1890, had 
lim

ited capacity.  Intended as the central yard for all 
incom

ing and outgoing goods for the Sydney m
arket 

(the yard at Darling H
arbour m

ostly w
as for the coastal 

trade), carters accessed the large covered shed from
 

H
enderson Road. 59 C

arters and agents dealing and 
storing these goods are likely to have sought new

 
prem

ises closer to the new
 goods yard.

58: N
orth Eveleigh C

oncept Plan H
IS, 2008.

59: ‘Alexandria G
oods Yard’, Daily Telegraph, 12/1/1916, p.11.
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3.5.5 R
ailw

ay term
ini and their im

pact
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Figure 43: Detail from
 C

ity C
ouncil aerial photograph 

dated 1948.  By this date som
e area w

est of G
ibbons 

Street had been cleared for the building of the Eastern 
Suburbs Railw

ay.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives.

Figure 44: Detail from
 N

SW
 G

overnm
ent aerial 

photograph dated 1951.  By this date the clearances 
necessitated tem

porary realignm
ent of G

ibbons Street.
Source: N

SW
 Land Registry Services.

The N
SW

 G
overnm

ent returned to the business 
of building urban railw

ays in the 2010s.  As part 
of the new

 Sydney M
etro C

ity and Southw
est an 

underground station is being built at W
aterloo on an 

entirely new
 route beside Botany Road.  C

onstruction 
of the new

 railw
ay com

m
enced in 2017, w

ith 2024 
being the projected com

pletion date pre C
O

VID-19.  
The new

 station at W
aterloo has necessitated 

clearance of the w
hole block fronting Botany Road 

south of Raglan Street, aside from
 the C

ongregational 
C

hurch.
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The im
portance of Eveleigh declined from

 the 1960s 
(the last of the facilities at the com

plex closed in 
1990) and w

ith it the dem
and for housing and other 

traditional services for the w
orkers in suburbs nearby 

inclusive of Botany Road.

Railw
ay developm

ent also im
pacted on areas w

est 
of G

ibbons Street and its southern end ow
ing to the 

protracted, on/off progress of the building of the 
Eastern Suburbs Railw

ay.  This area w
as resum

ed, 
and the sites w

ere being cleared by the late 1940s.  
The Eastern Suburbs Railw

ay opened in 1979. 

3
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Figure 45: Detail from
 a plan of 1894 show

ing the route (in 
red line) of the first (post 1882) tram

 service into Redfern.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (M

ap 811.12gm
e).

Figure 46: Detail from
 a plan of 1920 show

ing the extent 
of the tram

w
ays then servicing Redfern and W

aterloo.
Source: N

ational Library of Australia (M
ap G

8974.S9P33).

Figure 47: East side of Botany Road, W
aterloo, looking 

north from
 the intersection of H

enderson Road in 1957 
show

ing tram
 and shops.

Source: Sydney C
ity Archives (058706 Les Stone C

ollection).

Figure 48: East side of Botany Road, W
aterloo, looking 

south from
 the intersection of H

enderson Road in 1957.  
At right is the C

om
m

ercial Bank of Sydney branch at N
o. 

60 Botany Road, Alexandria.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives (044291 Les Stone C
ollection)

Figure 49: M
ap of Sydney & suburbs show

ing tram
w

ay 
lines and stopping places. 
Source: State Library of N

SW
, C

all num
ber 

M
 Z/M

4 811.18gm
e/1892/1, available 

online, http://digital.sl.nsw
.gov.au/delivery/

D
eliveryM

anagerServlet?em
bedded=true&toolbar=false&dps_

pid=IE3739207
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3.5.6 Tram
 services

From
 the early 1860s private horse draw

n om
nibuses 

ran along Botany Road into Redfern, although a 
service to areas further south seem

 not to have 
operated.  In 1871 the new

ly form
ed Sydney O

m
nibus 

C
om

pany com
m

enced a service to W
aterloo via 

Redfern w
ith a frequency of six per hour. 60    

C
om

m
encem

ent of governm
ent ow

ned transport 
services cam

e in 1882 w
ith the opening of a steam

 
tram

w
ay from

 the then railw
ay term

inus in the vicinity 
of Devonshire Street to Redfern Street and then along 
Botany Road to the term

inus at Botany via W
aterloo.  

This service w
as upgraded to electric operation 

in 1903 w
hen a m

ore direct route to the city along 
Regent Street w

ithin C
hippendale w

as introduced.  
The tram

s w
ere replaced by buses in 1959. 61 

The com
ing of the tram

w
ay evidently influenced the 

staging of developm
ent fronting Botany Road w

here 
the initial residential and light industrial developm

ents 
w

ere replaced by com
m

ercial shops over the 1880s 
and 1900s.

60: M
acAuslan, D, Ryle’w

y.  H
ow

 the horse buses transform
ed Sydney, 

Transit Australia Publishing, 2016
61: Keenan, DR, Tram

w
ays of Sydney, Transit Press, 1979.
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Figure 50: Detail from
 a survey of Redfern dated 1865.  It 

recorded the developm
ents undertaken from

 the early 
1840s w

ithin W
C

 W
entw

orth’s portion of the C
hippendale 

estate.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives (A-0088370).

Figure 51: Detail from
 a survey of Redfern dated 

1888.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Z/ M

 Ser 4 
811.17/1-Redfern Sheet 18).

Figure 52: Detail from
 aerial photography dated 1937 depicting the dw

ellings (and shops) developed from
 1861 w

ithin 
leaseholds of H

utchinson’s Block F.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o. 289)

The area north of Boundary Street w
est of Regent 

Street to the railw
ay property w

as subdivided in 
stages betw

een 1854 and 1861.  The earliest of 
these is the area betw

een Law
son Square and N

o. 
68 Regent Street.  W

hen subdivided the title w
as 

leasehold for a term
 of betw

een 18 and 21 years.  
By 1864 nearly all of these subdivisions had been 
developed, w

ith the m
ajority of the developm

ent being 
residences.  O

w
ing to the short-term

 of the leases, the 
dw

ellings are likely to have been insubstantial, and of 
w

eatherboard construction m
ostly. 

The opportunity to redevelop these properties 
occurred in 1870 (betw

een Law
son Square and N

o. 
68 Regent Street), in 1902/03 (betw

een N
os. 70-106 

Regent Street), and 1937 (betw
een N

o. 108 Regent 
Street and Boundary Street).  W

hen developed, the 
new

 developm
ent w

as of a com
m

ercial use.
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33.5.7 A residential precinct
H

ousing
The historical developm

ent of the areas fringing 
Regent Street/Botany Road as a place of residence 
com

m
enced in 1842 w

ith the subdivision of W
illiam

 
Redfern’s grant.  This area is outside the study area.  
H

ow
ever, a portion of the C

hippendale grant, betw
een 

N
os. 131-199 Regent Street and Botany (C

ope) 
Street, w

as subdivided also in 1842 by the then ow
ner 

W
illiam

 C
harles W

entw
orth.  Dw

ellings w
ithin this 

subdivision w
ere recorded in surveys prepared from

 
1854. 
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Figure 53: Detail from
 a survey of W

aterloo dated 1895 
of the area betw

een Raglan Street and W
ellington Street.  

This area w
as developed from

 1855 in leasehold.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Z/ M

 Ser 4 811.17/1-W
aterloo Sheet 

8)

Figure 54: The sam
e area in 1951.

Source: N
SW

 Land Registry Services.

Figure 55: Detail from
 aerial photography dated 1937 

depicting the shops developed from
 1871 and 1902 w

ithin 
H

utchinson’s Blocks D and E, betw
een Redfern Street 

and M
arian Street.

Source: State Library of N
SW

 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N
o. 289).

Figure 56: East side of Botany Road, W
aterloo, looking 

south w
ith N

os. 189-209 depicted in 1965.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives (014646).

The areas fronting Botany Road w
ithin W

aterloo and 
Alexandria w

ere w
ithin the W

aterloo Estate leaseholds 
w

here the m
aking of the leases com

m
enced in 1855.  

Subdivision w
as undertaken piecem

eal w
ith land sold 

suffi
cient for either cottage, terrace, shop, or factory.  

The term
 of the lease w

as 99 years and this w
ould 

have encouraged buildings of substance.  Further, the 
leases generally w

ere m
erged into freehold from

 the 
early part of the tw

entieth century (although instances 
of leases running their full term

 are know
n in W

aterloo) 
providing continuation of ow

nership and longevity of 
the developm

ent.  By the 1890s m
ost of these areas 

had been developed w
ith dw

ellings, and a good 
num

ber of these w
ere still standing by the early 1950s.

Shops
W

ithin Redfern, Regent Street developed as the 
m

ain shopping precinct for the w
estern part of the 

m
unicipality.  The reasons for this being inclusive of 

the route of the tram
 service from

 1882, and proxim
ity 

to Redfern railw
ay station opened in 1878.  W

ithin 
the study area, the w

est side of the street becam
e 

predom
inantly retail in use, probably ow

ing to the 
num

ber of sites com
ing on the m

arket w
ith the 

staged (1870, 1902/03 and 1937) freehold sales of 
the H

utchinson estate.  U
nlike com

parable suburbs 
such as N

ew
tow

n, the retail building stock in Redfern 
com

prised buildings no higher than tw
o storeys, in 

row
s of tw

o or m
ore single retail prem

ises.  U
nlike 

the central part of Redfern there appears to have 
been no historical (pre 1950) ethnic association w

ith 
these shops. 62 The prevalence of historical Protestant 
churches in the precinct suggests likew

ise.

The w
estern and northern parts of C

ooper’s W
aterloo 

Estate developed from
 the 1850s into an industrial 

zone w
ith soap w

orks, w
ool w

ashes, brew
eries, a 

rope w
orks, a pottery, and brickyard.  Elsew

here 
the southern and eastern parts rem

ained largely 
undeveloped, but presum

ably there w
ere pockets 

of sm
all m

arket gardens and dairies.  The suburb of 
W

aterloo by about 1890 w
as still very m

uch confined 
to the north-w

est corner of the m
unicipality.  W

ithin 
W

aterloo/Alexandria a grouping of shops occurred in 
the area north of Raglan Street along Botany Road. 63 

62: Souvenir of Redfern M
unicipal Jubilee 1859-1909.

63: Sands’ Directory.
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Figure 57: Bunnerong, 90 Regent Street, Redfern. Dated 
1930.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

Figure 59: Star, 170 Botany Road, Alexandria. Dated 
1930.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

Figure 61: Abbots, 47 Botany Road, W
aterloo. Dated 

1930.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

Figure 62: C
auliflow

er, 123 Botany Road, W
aterloo.  Dated 

1936.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

Figure 60: Lord Raglan, 54 W
yndham

 Street, Alexandria.  
Dated 1930.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

Figure 58: C
ricketers Arm

s, 56-58 Botany Road, 
Alexandria. Dated 1930.
Source: N

oel Bultin Archives (AN
U

).

64: Advertising, Sydney M
orning H

erald,15/10/1862, p.4.
65: O

ld System
 Lease Book 72 N

o. 711.
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3H
otels

A high concentration of hotels w
ere encountered 

on Botany Road built in the nineteenth century and 
first decades of the tw

entieth century.  Traditionally 
these hotels catered to w

orking m
en either em

ployed 
or residing in the area.  The earliest of the surviving 
hotels such as the Star (N

o. 170 Botany Road) and 
C

auliflow
er (N

o. 123 Botany Road) are m
odest 

prem
ises designed originally to provide beverages.  

The later hotels such as the dem
olished Bellevue 

(N
o. 54 Regent Street), C

ricketers Arm
s, (N

os. 56-58 
Botany Road) and Lord Raglan (N

o. 54 W
yndham

 
Street) w

ere designed w
ith a residential com

ponent for 
short-term

 stays by travelling salesm
en and the like.  

The earliest of the surviving hotels w
ithin the study 

area is the C
auliflow

er in W
aterloo, w

hich com
m

enced 
trade by late 1862 w

hen the local council agreed 
to erect a horse trough in front of the prem

ises. 64   
The unusual nam

e of the hotel reflects historical 
associations of the area w

ith the m
arket gardens that 

once characterised this southern fringe of Sydney.  
The nam

e also has associations w
ith the first ow

ner, 
G

eorge Rolfe, w
ho w

as a m
arket gardener. 65
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Figure 63: The form
er church and rectory of St Silas’ 

Anglican at W
aterloo (N

o. 173 Botany Road).  N
ot dated, 

late 1930s.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (c083270013)

Figure 64: St Lukes Presbyterian C
hurch (N

o. 118 Regent 
Street, Redfern) in 1937.
Source: State Library of N

SW
 (Redfern Subdivision Plan N

o. 289)

Figure 65: Detail of m
ap show

ing St Silas C
hurch from

 
collection of cadastral m

aps w
ithin Alexandria and 

W
aterloo, N

SW
.

Source: State Library of N
SW

: w
w

w
.digital.sl.nsw

.gov.au, M
2 

811.18197/1881/1, FL9150710.

Figure 66: Plan and W
est Elevation of St Silas C

hurch, 
draw

ings by Edm
und T Blacket.

Source: State Library of N
SW

.
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C
hurches

A num
ber of churches w

ere erected along Botany 
Road w

ithin the study area in the late nineteenth 
century.  C

ollectively they represented the highest 
concentration of churches w

ithin the one precinct at 
Redfern/W

aterloo.  All of the churches w
ere of the 

Protestant faith.  

The earliest of these churches w
as the now

 
dem

olished St Silas’ Anglican at W
aterloo (N

o. 173 
Botany Road).  C

om
pleted in 1868, it w

as a m
odest 

brick church in the G
othic style w

ith neighbouring 
rectory, set w

ithin large grounds that extended to 
M

cEvoy Street originally.  The church w
as designed 

by Edm
und Blacket (1817-1883), and his assistant 

John H
orbury H

unt (1838-1904).  In the nineteenth 
century the church surrounds probably w

ere sparsely 
developed open ground, but by the 1930s it w

as 
engulfed by large w

arehousing and light industry.  The 
site w

as cleared in the early 1970s. 66 

O
f the tw

o extant churches, the form
er St Lukes 

Presbyterian (N
o. 118 Regent Street) w

as opened in 
1883.  This m

odest stone church in the G
othic style 

w
as designed by architect Alfred E H

irst and built at a 
cost of 4500 pounds.  The rear of the church building 
accom

m
odated the Sunday school room

s.  The 
coloured w

indow
s are by Ashw

in and Falconer. 67

The C
ongregational C

hurch at W
aterloo (N

os. 103-105 
Botany Road) w

as opened in 1884.  H
ow

ever, a tim
ber 

church had stood previously on this site from
 1866, 

w
ith the congregation being form

ed in 1858.  Built 
of brick w

ith stuccoed w
alls, and in the G

othic style, 
it w

as designed by Redfern born architect H
erbert 

Sam
uel Thom

pson (1855-1907), and built at a cost of 
2350 pounds. 68

66: Kerr, J, O
ur G

reat Victorian Architect. Edm
und T Blacket.  N

ational 
Trust of Australia (N

SW
), 1983.

67: ‘N
ew

 Presbyterian C
hurch at Redfern’, Daily Telegraph, 21/8/1882, 

p.3.  ‘Presbyterian C
hurch, Redfern’, Evening N

ew
s, 19/11/1883, p.2.

68: ‘C
ongregational C

hurch, W
aterloo’, Daily Telegraph, 21/7/1884, p.6.  

Religious, Em
pire, 19/2/1866, p.2.

Figure 67: St Silas C
hurch, W

aterloo, Sydney.
Source: State Library of N

SW
: w

w
w

.digital.sl.nsw
.gov.au, 

G
overnm

ent Printing O
ffice 1-05804, FL1758755.
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Figure 68: Detail from
 the C

ity C
ouncil’s planning schem

e 
published in 1958.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives.

Figure 69: Detail from
 the C

ity C
ouncil’s planning schem

e 
published in 1971.  At left is the DM

R’s easem
ent for one 

its proposed distributors.
Source: Sydney C

ity Archives.

Figure 70: G
overnm

ent G
azette of the State of N

ew
 South 

W
ales (Sydney, N

SW
 : 1901 - 2001), Friday 6 July 1956 

(N
o.75), page 1947.

Source: N
ational Library of Australia via Trove online.

U
se your brow

ser's Print function to print the article (1 A
4 page). O

ther im
age sizes are available in the dow

nload section.
G

overnm
ent G

azette of the State of N
ew

 South W
ales (Sydney, N

SW
 : 1901 - 2001), Friday 6 July 1956 (N

o.75), page 1947

N
ational Library of A

ustralia
http://nla.gov.au/nla.new

s-article220388055

71: Anderson, op.cit, p.6. 
72: N

ITV, 10 M
arch 2016. Inner Sydney’s Aboriginal C

om
m

unity 
fear they are being pushed out for ‘w

hite hipsters’, https://w
w

w.
sbs.com

.au/nitv/the-point-w
ith-stan-grant/article/2016/03/09/inner-

sydneys-aboriginal-com
m

unity-fear-they-are-being-pushed-out-
w

hite-hipsters#:~:text=Redfern%
20and%

20W
aterloo%

20are%
20

deeply,cam
paigned%

20to%
20evict%

20Aboriginal%
20residents.

73: U
rbis, Archaeological Assessm

ent included in C
ox Inall Ridgew

ay, 
Botany Road C

orridor, Indigenous C
ultural H

eritage Study, 2020.
74: C

ox Inall Ridgew
ay, Botany Road C

orridor Strategic Review, 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander com

m
unity engagem

ent and cultural 
heritage research, Project Report - Body, O

ctober 2020.
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In 1949 the councils of Redfern, W

aterloo and 
Alexandria w

ere absorbed by the C
ity of Sydney.  

C
onsequently, the built environm

ent of Botany Road 
that had been under three jurisdictions now

 w
as under 

one.  The C
ity C

ouncil prepared its first planning 
schem

e covering its enlarged constituency in 1958.  
In this Schem

e, Regent Street/Botany Road betw
een 

Redfern Street and Raglan Street w
as designated 

a Business C
entre, and the area south to M

cEvoy 
Street and beyond zoned Industrial B (Light).  The 
area fringing G

ibbons Street w
as zoned Industrial B 

(Light).  These zonings probably reflected the range of 
uses perm

itted by the various councils prior to 1949.  
The group of shops north of Law

son Square w
ithin 

the study area how
ever w

as zoned Industrial B (Light), 
and a rezoning it seem

s.

In 1968 the form
er Redfern, Alexandria and W

aterloo 
local governm

ent areas w
ere incorporated w

ithin the 
new

 South Sydney M
unicipal C

ouncil (initially called 
N

orthcott).  Despite this, the C
ity C

ouncil’s Planning 
Schem

e published in 1971 included Redfern.  The 
Schem

e zoned the areas as that in the 1958 Schem
e, 

but extended the Business C
entre zoning north along 

Regent Street and east along Redfern Street, w
here 

previously these had been zoned in part Industrial B 
(Light).  The block south of Law

son Square w
as zoned 

Industrial B (Light) on the w
est frontage (then being 

the Law
son Picture Theatre) and Business C

entre 
on the east (then being the Bellevue H

otel).  This 
precinct w

as redeveloped subsequently into the pair 
of TN

T offi
ce tow

ers in the early 1970s, perm
itted by 

the form
er South Sydney M

unicipal C
ouncil. 69   In 

2004 South Sydney (now
 C

ity) C
ouncil w

as m
erged 

w
ith Sydney C

ity C
ouncil.  In the 2010s additional 

residential tow
er blocks w

ere built to the south of 
Law

son Square and behind Regent Street.

From
 the 1950s, a com

bination of new
 governm

ent 
policies of assim

ilation and econom
ic recession in 

N
ew

 South W
ales caused large num

bers of Aboriginal 
m

igrants from
 segregated reserves in the countryside 

to resettle in the Sydney suburbs of Redfern and 
W

aterloo. As such, these suburbs becam
e a m

eeting 
point for Aboriginal com

m
unities throughout N

SW
. 

C
onsidered ‘slum

’ com
m

unities at this tim
e, they 

contained cheap w
orker housing and offered proxim

ity 
to transport and opportunities for unskilled labour. 71 

In the 1960s and 70s, an estim
ated 30,000 Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander people lived in the area, 
representing the largest urban Aboriginal population. 
At that tim

e, m
any Aboriginal services and cultural 

organisations w
ere based on Botany Road, Regent 

Street and C
ope Street in Redfern and W

aterloo 
including the first Aboriginal M

edical Service 
offi

ce and the Aboriginal Legal Service offi
ce, an 

organisation associated w
ith the civil rights m

ovem
ent 

that found its urban centre in Redfern. Redfern and 
W

aterloo w
ere also places of protest and com

m
unity 

gatherings in response to landlords w
ho cam

paigned 
to evict Aboriginal tenants in an attem

pt to gentrify 
these w

orking class suburbs. 72 

M
ore places of Aboriginal cultural significance 

becam
e em

bedded in the Botany Road C
orridor 

w
hich further strengthened the Aboriginal people’s 

connection to the place. These included the Black 
Theatre, Radio Redfern, Koori Radio, the N

ational 
C

entre of Indigenous Excellence and gathering places 
such as Alexandria Park and Redfern O

val w
hich 

hosted m
ajor sporting events that attracted m

any 
Aboriginal com

m
unities in Sydney and abroad. Today, 

although the num
ber of Aboriginal fam

ilies living in 
the area has been greatly reduced, the num

ber of 
Indigenous businesses w

ithin the suburbs of Redfern, 
W

aterloo and Alexandria rem
ains strong, w

ith over 
200 businesses continuing the legacy and longevity of 
Aboriginal connection to the place. 73 

Aboriginal people retain a strong and unbroken 
connection to the study area and surrounds w

hich 
continues to be a key urban centre of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander rights and identity today. 74 

The M
ain Roads Board im

plem
ented a num

ber of 
road w

idening schem
es in N

SW
 in the 1920s and 

the Departm
ent of M

ain Roads continued to do so.  
Botany Road/Regent Street w

as notified in 1956 
to be w

idened by 18 feet on the east side betw
een 

C
leveland Street and H

enderson Road, but the 
w

idening has only been im
plem

ented partially. 70  At 
som

etim
e, probably m

id 1950s, the w
est side of 

Botany Road south of H
enderson Road w

as w
idened 

also by about 18 feet, and the historical building 
stock w

as cleared for new
 developm

ents. At this tim
e 

a range of new
 building typologies, including light 

industrial w
arehouses w

ere introduced to the study 
area. Transportation dem

ands and the increased 
popularity of m

otor vehicles eventually led to the 
redundancy of the tram

 services w
hich ceased in 

1959.

The Departm
ent of M

ain Roads also had plans for the 
area betw

een Regent Street/Botany Road and the 
railw

ay line inclusive of W
yndham

 Street for one of 
its proposed arterial expressw

ays distributing traffi
c 

through the inner m
etropolitan area to the outlying 

freew
ays.  These distributors w

ere greeted w
ith m

uch 
com

m
unity opposition and consequently the schem

es 
w

ere abandoned under the incom
ing W

ran Labor 
G

overnm
ent in 1976.

In recent years, the Botany Road C
orridor and 

surrounding areas, once characterised by light 
industrial uses and w

orker housing, has undergone 
m

any changes through the pressures of gentrification 
and developm

ent w
hich have resulted in the loss of 

m
any historic and cultural buildings. The one w

ay 
pairing of Regent Street and W

yndham
 Street w

as 
introduced in 1993 to accom

m
odate high volum

es of 
traffi

c. This had a m
ajor im

pact on the ‘high street’ 
character of Regent Street and resulted in low

 rise 
housing developm

ents being constructed on the 
northern part of W

yndham
 Street.

The N
SW

 G
overnm

ent and the C
ity of Sydney 

C
ouncil have both identified the area as a strategic 

opportunity for further ‘urban renew
al’ and significant 

grow
th in term

s of em
ploym

ent, innovation, transport 
and housing. The W

aterloo M
etro Station is currently 

under construction and a m
ajor housing developm

ent 
proposed on the site of the form

er H
ousing 

C
om

m
ission W

aterloo Tow
ers.

69: South Sydney M
unicipal C

ouncil DA 227/70.
70: C

row
n Plans 15887-3000 and 15888-3000.  N

SW
 G

overnm
ent 

G
azette, 6/7/1956.
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